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Figure 1:  General location  (scale 1:25,000) 

SITE



Granary, Orchard House, The Paddocks, Chorleywood Historic Building Recording
940/COH

© ASC Ltd 2007  Page 4

Summary 

In July 2007 Archaeological Services and Consultancy Ltd (ASC) carried out historic 
building recording of the former granary at Orchard House, 5 The Paddocks, Dog Kennel 
Lane, Chorleywood in response to proposals for the relocation of the building. The granary, 
which is a Grade II listed building that was converted to a summerhouse in the 1980s, is a 
freestanding timber framed structure resting on stone staddles. The conversion works 
included the installation of doors, windows and insulation boards, but the bulk of the timber 
framing, roof and floor appear little changed. The heavily painted weatherboarding and new 
access stair gives the granary, which is likely to date from the late 18th/early 19th century, a 
more recent appearance, but the overall integrity of the building has not been excessively 
compromised.

1 Introduction 

1.1 In July 2007 Archaeological Services and Consultancy Ltd (ASC) carried out historic 
building recording of the former granary at Orchard House, 5 The Paddocks, Dog 
Kennel Lane, Chorleywood (NGR TQ 03743 96368: Fig. 1).  The project was 
commissioned by Alison Phin, and was carried out according to a project design 
prepared by ASC (McLeish, 2007), and a brief (Instone, 2007) prepared on behalf of 
the local planning authority (LPA), Three Rivers District Council, by their 
archaeological advisor (AA), Hertfordshire County Council.  The relevant planning 
application reference is 8/06/1233. 

1.2 Planning Background 

This building recording project has been required under the terms of Planning Policy 
Guidance Note 15 (PPG15), in response to proposals for the relocation of the building. 

1.3 Location

The site is situated within the Chorleywood Common Conservation Area in a private 
cul de sac known as The Paddocks, which lies to the south east of Dog Kennel Lane.  

1.4 Description

The building, which is Grade II listed, is a freestanding single storey timber framed 
structure under a pyramidal, tiled roof and resting on stone staddles. Although the 
building is orientated north-east to south-west, the northeastern elevation is considered 
to face north for the purposes of this report. 
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Figure 2:  Site location (scale 1:1250) 
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2 Aims & Methods 

2.1 Aims 

As described in the brief (Section 3), the aims of the building recording were: 

�� To compile a comprehensive and high quality record of the structure 
identified for resiting, with analysis and interpretation in conjunction with 
an associated documentary survey. 

�� To provide a review of the local and regional historical context of the 
structures recorded by the project, making reference to the appropriate 
regional research agendas. 

�� To produce a high quality fully integrated archive suitable for long-term 
deposition in order to ‘preserve by record’ the building in its current form 
prior to resiting. 

2.2 Standards

The work conforms to the project design, to the relevant sections of the Institute of 
Archaeologists’ Code of Conduct (IFA 2000) and Standard & Guidance Notes (IFA 
2001), to current English Heritage Guidelines (EH 2006), to the Association of Local 
Government Archaeological Officers East of England Region Standards for Field 
Archaeology in the East of England (ALGAO 2003), and to the relevant sections of 
ASC’s own Operations Manual. 

2.3 Methods

The work was carried out according to the brief (Section 5), which required: 

�� English Heritage Building Recording to Level 3 (EH 2006) 
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3 Historical Background 

3.1 The town of Chorleywood lies within the Three Rivers District of Hertfordshire, 
divided administratively by the Hertfordshire-Buckinghamshire boundary. Historically 
Chorleywood was part of the manor and parish of Rickmansworth, which was given to 
the Monastery At St Albans by King Offa  (Ray 1969: 7,9). 

3.2 Saxon   (410-1066)

The main evidence for Saxon activity in Chorleywood is the place names and river 
names together with the character of the town planning. The lanes of Chorleywood 
have characteristically steep banks and circuitous routes with Shire Lane believed to 
be part of the boundary ditch, which separated the kingdoms of Mercia and Wessex 
(ibid). The name of Chorleywood can be traced back to the Saxon name of ‘Ceorla 
Leah’ meaning Churls Meadow, indicative of the relative importance of the Common 
(ibid). The name underwent various modifications from the Norman Bosco de Cherle 
in 1278, to Charlewoode in 1524, eventually being modified to the present 
Chorleywood by the Urban District Council in 1913 (ibid).

3.3 Medieval (1066-1500) 

Chorleywood is not mentioned in the Domesday Book of 1086, being at that time a 
relatively insignificant part of the Manor of Rickmansworth (Ray 1969: 10). During 
this period Chorleywood remained small with a few tenant farmers and homesteads of 
peasants (villeins in bondage to the Abbey) (ibid). The Manor of Rickmansworth 
remained with the Monastery of St Albans until the Dissolution and was subsequently 
reclaimed as Crown property during the reign of Elizabeth I (Chorleywood Official 
Guide: 4). The other part of Chorleywood, which belonged to the Manor of 
Isenhamptstead Cheyne, was the Royal Palace to Edward I and subsequently retained 
by Edward III who then gifted it to the Cheyne family (ibid).

3.4 Post-Medieval (1500-Present) 

The Turnpike Act of 1663 allowed the residents of Chorleywood to exploit their new 
strategic position and charge travellers at the Chorleywood Tollgate for using the 
Hatfield to Reading road (Chorleywood Offficial Guide: 4). During the 19th century 
Chorleywood had a population expansion due to the extension of the Metropolitan 
Line of the London Underground. This expansion continued until the 1960’s 
(en.wikipedia.org). Dog Kennel Lane was named due to a railway offer of reduced 
rates for gentleman wishing to travel down from London for a days hunting in 
Chorleywood (Edwards 1987). 

3.5 Architectural background 

Chorleywood retains buildings of Tudor origin such as King Johns Farm in 
Chorleywood Bottom (Ray 1969: 18). The Cedars Estate dated to 1692 was extended 
from Bury Park in Rickmansworth to Dog Kennel Lane. The estate now c.252 acres 
had a mansion and various associated buildings and grounds within its perimeter, one 
of which was Apple Tree Farm, now a Grade II listed building, which encompasses 
the proposed granary site. The estate has passed through various owners and has been 
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modified throughout this period. The present Institute for Blind Children at 
Chorleywood College, c.25m south of the granary, was originally the Manor House 
and is Grade II listed (ibid: 25). There are six Grade II listings for the area 
immediately surrounding and including Apple Tree Farm (Department of the 
Environment). The majority are 17th/18th century buildings, which may have been 
listed not only for architectural merit but also for ‘group value’ (ibid: 49). 

3.6 Cartographic Evidence

The first map on which the granary is clearly depicted is the 1914 Ordnance Survey 
Plan (Fig. 5), although the Tithe Map of 1839 shows a building that is possibly the 
granary in a different location (Fig. 3). The granary remained a constant during the 
20th century when other buildings were demolished or added as required (Figs 4-7) 

3.7 Listed Building Description

GV II Granary. C18 or C19. Timber frame. Weatherboarded. Pyramidal tiled roof. 
Square on plan with stone staddles 3 by 3. Steps up to door facing house. Inserted 
windows. Interior not inspected. Included for group value.

Figure 3:  Tithe Map (not to scale) 
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Figure 4:  1898 Ordnance Survey map (not to scale) 

Figure 5:  1914 Ordnance Survey map (not to scale) 
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Figure 6:  1937 Ordnance Survey Map (not to scale)

Figure 7:  1961 Ordnance Survey Map (not to scale)
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4 Description 

4.1 General (Figs. 8-9,  Plates 1-5)

The granary currently stands between the garage and Orchard House, which is a 
modern building within the recent development of Appletree Farm. 

The external dimensions of the granary are 4.93 × 4.91m and it rests on staddle stones 
approximately 0.65m above ground level. The staddle stones are made of a 
fossiliferous, well-bedded limestone and have well defined vertical tool marks on the 
base. The base is c.50cm high x 34cm wide and the cap is c 15cm high x 40cm wide. 

The timber framing consists of primary bracing that has a hardboard lining between 
the framing and a weatherboarded exterior. The pyramid shaped roof is covered with 
clay tiles. There is an open tread staircase of 4 steps leading to a landing area with a 
waist height balustrade in front of the two doors in the north elevation. These, as well 
as the two windows in each of the other elevations, were installed in the 1980s and are 
described in more detail below.  

4.2 Interior  (Fig. 10, Plates 6-12)

Dimensions: 4.85 × 4.85m overall, height 4.64m 

All the timbers are exposed inside the granary, but the nail holes in the timberwork 
and the paintline on the underside of the wallplates suggest that they may once have 
been concealed behind panelling. Most of the timbers are original, the exception being 
those associated with the recently installed windows and doors. The vertical posts, 
which appear to be of elm, are adzed and pit-sawn. Apart from the central post in the 
south wall, which is only 8cm wide, they measure approximately 15 x 17cm. The 
studs and braces are also pitsawn, and a very small number are waney edged. The stud 
to the south of the vertical post in the west elevation has been cut horizontally 
approximately 1.35m above the floor, as has the brace next to it. This is at the same 
height as the base of the window, and may have been done when the windows were 
installed. The vertical post in the south elevation has been spliced approximately 50cm 
above the floor.  

The doors in the north wall are half glazed, and the two windows in the south 
elevation have 3 light fixed casements with 12 panes of glass in each. The two 
windows in the east and west elevations are 2 light casements also with 12 panes 
apiece.  

The floorboards are pine, approximately 14cm wide and nailed to the joists below. 
They run east to west. 

 The wallplates run the full length of the east and west wall, and those on the north and 
south are tenoned into them. The walls are tied with a centrally located tie beam (Plate 
11) and diagonal or dragon braces (Plate 12). The roof timbers are probably original. 
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Plate 1:  North elevation Plate 2:  East elevation 

Plate 3:  South & east elevations Plate 4:  West elevation 

Plate 5:  Staddle stone Plate 6:  South wall 
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Plate 7:  East wall Plate 8:  North wall 

Plate 9:  West wall Plate 10:  Roof 

Plate 11:  Tie beam joint Plate 12:  Dragon tie 
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Figure 8:  Floor plan  (scale 1:50)
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Figure 9:  Section  (scale 1:50)
(Courtesy of Richard Michelmore) 
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Figure 10:  Elevations  (scale 1:50)
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5 Conclusions 

The architectural evidence suggests that the granary is of late 18th or early 19th century 
date. The roof, including the tiles, floor and main bulk of the timber framing appear to 
have changed very little, despite the conversion programme of the 1980s when the 
granary was turned into a summerhouse. The conversion works included the 
installation of new doors and windows, the insertion of wall insulation between the 
framing and the weatherboarding and, presumably, the addition of the access stair and 
landing. The weatherboarding is now heavily painted making it impossible to 
ascertain whether any of it could be original. Little can be said of the staddle stones, 
other than the fact that the stone was not sourced locally. 
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Figure 11:  Photo Plan (scale 1:50)
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